The Global Textile and Clothing Industry post the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing

Hildegunn Kyvik Nordås,¹ ERSD

World Trade Organization Geneva, Switzerland

¹ Research assistance from Roberto Chavez and useful comments from Michael Finger and Robert Teh are gratefully acknowledged.

This paper is only available in English - Price CHF 20.-

To order, please contact:

WTO Publications Centre William Rappard 154 rue de Lausanne CH-1211 Geneva Switzerland Tel: (41 22) 739 52 08 Fax: (41 22) 739 57 92 Website: www.wto.org E-mail: publications@wto.org

ISSN 1726-9466 ISBN 92-870-1244-X Printed by the WTO Secretariat VII-2004, 1,000

© World Trade Organization, 2004. Reproduction of material contained in this document may be made only with written permission of the WTO Publications Manager.

With written permission of the WTO Publications Manager, reproduction and use of the material contained in this document for non-commercial educational and training purposes is encouraged.

WTO Discussion Papers are presented by the authors in a personal capacity and should not in any way be interpreted as reflecting the views of the World Trade Organization or its Members.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	THE STRUCTURE OF THE TEXTILE AND CLOTHING SECTOR	3
III.	THE AGREEMENT ON TEXTILES AND CLOTHING	13
IV.	TRADE PATTERNS IN TEXTILES AND CLOTHING	16
V.	THE IMPACT OF PHASING OUT THE ATC	24
VI.	CONCLUSION	34
VII.	REFERENCES	35

LIST OF TABLES AND CHARTS

FIGURE 1:	THE SUPPLY CHAIN IN THE TEXTILE AND CLOTHING SECTOR	4
FIGURE 2:	VERTICAL SPECIALIZATION SHARE IN EXPORTS, SELECTED COUNTRIES AND TERRITORIES, 2001	9
FIGURE 3:	SOURCE OF IMPORTS OF TEXTILES TO THE USA	17
FIGURE 4:	SOURCE OF IMPORTS OF CLOTHING TO USA	18
FIGURE 5:	SOURCES OF IMPORTS OF TEXTILES TO THE EU	20
FIGURE 6:	SOURCES OF IMPORTS OF CLOTHING TO EU	21
FIGURE 7:	MARKET SHARES BEFORE AND AFTER QUOTA ELIMINATION, TEXTILES, EU	27
FIGURE 8:	MARKET SHARES BEFORE AND AFTER QUOTA ELIMINATION, CLOTHING, EU	28
FIGURE 9:	MARKET SHARES BEFORE AND AFTER QUOTA ELIMINATION, TEXTILES, USA	29
FIGURE 10:	MARKET SHARES BEFORE AND AFTER QUOTA ELIMINATION, CLOTHING, USA	30
TABLE 1:	THE COST STRUCTURE OF THE CLOTHING INDUSTRY, SELECTED COUNTRIES, 2001 (PER CENT OF GROSS OUTPUT)	7
TABLE 2:	THE COST STRUCTURE OF THE TEXTILE INDUSTRY, SELECTED COUNTRIES, 2001 (PER CENT OF GROSS OUTPUT)	8
TABLE 3:	EMPLOYMENT IN TEXTILES AND CLOTHING, ATC COUNTRIES (THOUSANDS)	10
TABLE 4:	EMPLOYMENT IN TEXTILE AND CLOTHING (THOUSANDS)	12
TABLE 5:	INTEGRATION OF TEXTILES AND CLOTHING INTO GATT	13
TABLE 6:	INTEGRATION DURING THE FIRST 3 STAGES	14
TABLE 7:	THE US TRADING PARTNERS' TRADE WITH THE UNITED STATES, 2002	19
TABLE 8:	EU'S TRADING PARTNERS' TRADE WITH EU, 2002	22
TABLE 9:	CHINA'S SHARE OF TOTAL IMPORTS, SELECTED COUNTRIES	23
TABLE 10:	EXPORT TAX EQUIVALENT OF QUOTAS BASE YEAR	25
TABLE 11:	IMPORTS AS SHARE OF DOMESTIC DEMAND WITH AND WITHOUT QUOTAS	26
TABLE 12:	REVEALED COMPARATIVE ADVANTAGE AND BINDING QUOTAS, 2000	32

I. INTRODUCTION

After more than forty years of import quotas, the textile and clothing sector will become subject to the general rules of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade from 1 January, 2005. Liberalization has been controversial because both textiles and clothing contribute to employment in developed countries, particularly in regions where alternative jobs may be difficult to find. In the European Union, for example, the sector is dominated by small and medium-sized enterprises concentrated in a number of regions that are highly dependent on this sector (Commission of the European Communities, 2003). Textiles and clothing are also among the sectors where developing countries have the most to gain from multilateral trade liberalization. In fact, the prospect of liberalization of the textiles and clothing sectors was one of the reasons why developing countries accepted to include services and intellectual property rights - areas to which they were sceptical at the outset – in the Uruguay Round (Reinert, 2000).

The objective of this paper is to assess the likely impact of liberalization, taking into account recent technological and managerial developments in the sector, and focusing on recent developments in supply chain management in the clothing and textiles sectors.

The clothing industry is labour-intensive and it offers entry-level jobs for unskilled labour in developed as well as developing countries. Job creation in the sector has been particularly strong for women in poor countries, who previously had no income opportunities other than the household or the informal sector.² Moreover, it is a sector where relatively modern technology can be adopted even in poor countries at relatively low investment costs. These technological features of the industry have made it suitable as the first rung on the industrialization ladder in poor countries, some of which have experienced a very high output growth rate in the sector (e.g. Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Viet Nam and Mauritius).³ These characteristics, however, have also made it a footloose industry

that is able to adjust to changing market conditions quickly.

At the same time, the textile and clothing industry has high-value added segments where design, research and development (R&D) are important competitive factors. The high end of the fashion industry uses human capital intensively in design and marketing. The same applies to market segments such as sportswear where both design and material technology are important. Finally, R&D is important in industrial textiles where, again, material technology is an important competitive factor.

Textiles and clothing are closely related both technologically and in terms of trade policy. Textiles provide the major input to the clothing industry, creating vertical linkages between the two. International trade in the two sectors is regulated by the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC) at the multilateral level, while bilateral and regional trade agreements typically link the two sectors through rules of origin accompanying preferential market access.

At the micro level, the two sectors are increasingly integrated through vertical supply chains that also involve the distribution and sales activities. Indeed, the retailers in the clothing sector increasingly manage the supply chain of the clothing and textiles sectors. This development probably started with the establishment of shopping malls such as Wal-Mart in the United States in the 1970s. Wal-Mart insisted that suppliers implemented information technologies for exchange of sales data, adopted standards for product labelling and methods of material handling. This ensured quick replenishment of apparel, which in turn allowed the retailer to offer a broad variety of fashion clothes without holding a large inventory. This approach has spread throughout the industry in the United States as well as elsewhere (and to other industries), shifting the competitive advantage of suppliers from being mainly a question of production costs to becoming a question of costs in combination with lead time and flexibility. This development has in turn favoured suppliers located close to the major

² See Nordås (2003a) for a discussion.

³ The textile and clothing sector has also grown very fast in more developed countries that have entered into preferential agreements with the EU or the US or both (e.g. Bulgaria, Lithuania, Macedonia and Jordan).

markets.⁴ In the following sections it will be shown that Latin America has indeed gained market shares in United States at the expense of Asia, while Central and Eastern Europe have gained market shares in the EU.

The study starts with a discussion of the structure of the textile and clothing industries, focusing on technology and industrial organization. Section III discusses the ATC and the progress so far in quota elimination. Section IV analyses the ATC countries' trade patterns in the sector since 1995, followed by an assessment of the likely changes in the sector post-ATC. Two different techniques are used for assessing the post-ATC trade patterns. First, a general equilibrium model of the world economy, the GTAP model, is run with the pre-ATC quotas in place as an initial scenario and the elimination of the quotas is the second scenario. The predicted changes are a substantial increase in market shares for China and India, while previously unrestricted (no quotas or non-binding quotas) countries will lose market share as will also local producers in North America and the EU. However, as will be argued in the discussion of the structure of the textile and clothing sectors, clothing is increasingly considered as a perishable good where time to market matters. This will render producers in more remote locations at a disadvantage, particularly in the fashion-segments of the clothing industry. In order to capture this feature of the industry, an assessment of determinants of bilateral trade flows is included as well, focusing on the role of trade barriers and distance to the supplier.⁵ It will be shown that when taking proximity to markets into consideration, the negative impact on countries like Mexico, Central and Eastern European countries and North Africa of quota elimination is smaller than suggested from the GTAP simulations.

⁴ These suppliers' advantages have been further enhanced through regional agreements giving them preferencial access to the market.

⁵ The methodology used for this is the gravity model.

The clothing sector is both a labour-intensive, low wage industry and a dynamic, innovative sector, depending on which market segments one focuses upon. In the high-quality fashion market, the industry is characterized by modern technology, relatively well-paid workers and designers and a high degree of flexibility. The competitive advantage of firms in this market segment is related to the ability to produce designs that capture tastes and preferences, and even better - influence such tastes and preferences - in addition to cost The core functions of firms effectiveness. servicing this market segment are largely located in developed countries and often in limited geographical areas or clusters within these countries. The Emilia-Romagna district in the socalled Third Italy is one of the most prominent and prosperous textile and clothing clusters in the world, while Italy is the second largest exporter of both textiles and clothing when intra-EU trade is included. However, this market segment has also seen a significant amount of relocation of production and outsourcing to lower-cost producers, often in geographical proximity to the major market (Navaretti et al., 2001).

The other major market segment is mass production of lower-quality and/or standard products such as t-shirts, uniforms, white underwear etc. Manufacturers for this market segment are largely found in developing countries, often in export processing zones and/or under socalled outward processing agreements with major importers.6 They employ mainly female workers semi-skilled and unskilled - and outsourcing to household production is quite common in the low end of the market. In the low to middle priced market, the role of the retailer has become increasingly prominent in the organization of the supply chain. The retail market has become more concentrated, leaving more market power to multinational retailers. These have market power not only in the consumer market, but perhaps more importantly they have considerable buying power. In addition, high-volume discount chains have developed their own brands and source their clothing directly from the suppliers, whether

foreign or local. According to Gereffi (2001), retailers accounted for half of total garment imports in the European Union in the mid-1990s, a trend that probably has continued during the second half of the 1990s.

Consumers spend a smaller share of their income on clothing than in the past, although consumers shop more frequently and buy a larger number of clothing items than before. The response from producers to the challenge of slow growth in total demand is to build on consumers' love of variety and provide new fashions and a broad variety of sizes, colours, designs etc. at a frequent rate. The details of these developments and their impact on international trade in textiles and clothing are discussed in the rest of this section.

A. THE SUPPLY CHAIN

The textiles and clothing sectors can be seen as a supply chain consisting of a number of discrete activities. Increasingly the supply chain from sourcing of raw materials via design and production to distribution and marketing is being organized as an integrated production network where the production is sliced into specialized activities and each activity is located where it can contribute the most to the value of the end product. When the location decision of each activity is being made, costs, quality, reliability of delivery, access to quality inputs and transport and transaction costs are important variables.

The supply chain in the textile and clothing sector is illustrated by Figure 1. The dotted lines represent the flow of information, while the solid lines represent the flow of goods. The direction of the arrows indicates a demand-pull-driven system. The information flow starts with the customer and forms the basis of what is being produced and when. It is also worth noticing that information flows directly from the retailers to the textile plants in many cases. The textile sector produces for the clothing sector and for household use. In the former case there is direct communication between retailers and textile mills when decisions are made on patterns, colours and material. In the second case textile mills often deliver household appliances directly to the retailers.

⁶ The US has the 807/9802 production sharing program, while the EU has so-called outward processing agreements with several countries, both as part of regional free trade agreements and as stand-alone agreements with a number of Asian countries (WTO, 2001).

Figure 1: The supply chain in the textile and clothing sector



At each link in the production chain to the left of the distribution centre in Figure 1, there are usually several companies. In order to make goods, information and payments flow smoothly, a number of logistics and business services are needed. Depending on the size and development of the host economy, such services are provided by the lead firm in the supply chain or independent service providers in the more advanced countries.

An illustration of how a supply chain operates is as follows: lean retailers in the United States typically replenish their stores on a weekly basis. Point of sales data are extracted and analyzed over the weekend and replenishment orders placed with the Monday morning.7 The manufacturer on manufacturer is typically required to fill the order within a week, which implies that the manufacturer will always have to carry larger inventories of finished goods than the retailer. How much larger depends on his own lead time and demand volatility. The larger the fluctuations in demand, and the larger the number of varieties (e.g. style, size, colour) the larger the inventory has to be. On the other hand, the shorter the manufacturer's lead time, the better the demand forecasts and the larger

the market, the less the inventory needed relative to sales. The size of the market matters, since the variation of aggregate demand from a large number of consumers are less than the variation over time of a few consumers. Upon receiving the replenishment order, the manufacturer will fill it from its inventory and then on the basis of the gap between remaining inventory and the desired inventory level, will make a production order to the production plant, of which the manufacturer may have several in different locations. The retailers may order large quantities of, say, shirts spread over a number of producers in several low-wage countries. In order to ensure that the shirts are similar and can sell under the same label, the buyer often buys fabric and accessories in bulk and provides its clothing suppliers with these inputs. In addition, buyers often also specify the design and assist the producers in providing the desired quality (Abernathy et al., 1999; Kelegama and Foley, 1999).

The underlying technological developments of modern supply chain management are discussed below. Given the demand-pull nature of the supply chain, it is natural to start the discussion with the retail sector, followed by clothing and then textiles.

 $^{^{7}}$ The analysis is often automatic by means of a purpose-made data software.

1. The retail sector

Substantial changes in the retail sector have been observed during the past few decades and modern retailing has been called "lean retailing" in a recent comprehensive study (Abernathy et al, 1999). The technological building blocks of lean retailing are bar codes and uniform product codes, electronic data interchange (EDI) and data processing, distribution centres and common standards across firms. The change most visible to consumers is the expansion of large shopping malls at the outskirts of the cities at the expense of city centre department stores and boutiques. As already mentioned, the retail sector has become more concentrated, particularly in the United States. Concentration implies more buying power for the retailer and thus increased bargaining power towards suppliers.

The bar code and complementary equipment for reading it are crucial for the retailer to collect point of sales information in real time. Bar codes were first introduced in the food industry in the 1970s and became widespread in the clothing sector from the mid 1980s. The technology allows retailers continuously to monitor which products sell and which do not - down to the details on size, colour and other characteristics. The technology also allows retailers to keep track of inventories. Such information is only valuable if it can be used for adjusting the supply of garments to consumer tastes as the information becomes available. Such adjustments require more frequent supply of garments in smaller quantities as opposed to the traditional stocking of the store before the season and clearance sales at the end of the season. In order for suppliers to be able to provide frequent supplies and make changes in the product spectre at short notice, retailers need to share point of sales data with suppliers, which requires frequent communication between retailers and their suppliers. For this purpose, EDI and data processing programmes are necessary. These provide a direct and often automated information exchange between retailers and suppliers and require that both parties invest in compatible A very crucial technology applied software. throughout the textile and clothing supply chain is the laser which is used for reading bar codes and transmitting the information content to the EDI and data processing equipment.

Efficient and timely information flows are of little use if not complemented by equally efficient and timely flows of the goods for sale. The emergence of distribution centres, replacing traditional wholesalers and storage facilities ensures efficient and timely flows of goods. A distribution centre consists of bays for trucks to unload or load goods. Incoming goods are packed in standard containers with barcodes that are scanned as they enter conveyor belts. The information on the bar codes is matched with information on purchase orders by means of information processing systems. The goods are then routed to the correct bay for outgoing trucks to the store that has ordered them. Only when the information on the bar code does not match purchasing orders are containers routed to manned stations. The information processing system also process financial information and may be linked to automatic invoicing and thus an equally efficient flow of financial transactions between buyers and suppliers. Distribution centres are usually smaller in terms of floor area than traditional wholesale storage buildings, but the distribution centre is much more capital-intensive and automated.

Finally, the integration of information flows, flows of goods, and payments are only possible if all the links in the chain use compatible standards. Suppliers are required to add bar codes that comply with industry standards to garments before they are shipped. Often they are also required to place the apparel on hangers such that it can go straight from the truck to the shop floor. Evidently, lean retailing has a bearing on suppliers and the technology applied in the clothing and textiles sectors.

2. Clothing

The basic production technology of the apparel industry has not changed much over the past century, and is characterized by the progressive bundle system. Work is organized such that each worker is specialized in one or a few operations. The fabric is first cut and then grouped by parts of the garment, tied into bundles (pre-assembly) and then sewed together. The individual sewing tasks are organized in a systematic fashion and specialized sewing machines have been developed for the individual tasks. A worker receives a bundle of unfinished garments, performs her single task and places the bundle in a buffer. A buffer of about one day's work has been common at each operation. It takes about 40 operations to complete a pair of pants, which implies that there is about 40 days of in-process inventory. For men's blazers, however, it takes as much as 100 operations. Although a number of improvements in terms of systematizing the operations and reducing the time at each individual operation has taken place over

time, the basic system has remained the same. One explanation for this is that technology changes cannot be implemented in a partial fashion involving only a few operations. This would unbalance the system and any major technological change therefore needs to involve the entire system (Abernathy et al., 1999).

In the early days of industrial development in Europe and the United States, the bundles of unfinished garments could either be sewn together in a factory, or workers took the bundles home to sew them together there, after which they were returned to the shop or factory for finishing. The latter arrangement dominated in the early days and is still a feature of the apparel industry in developing countries today.

Even though the basic technology and the sequence of operations have not changed much, new innovations have improved efficiency at each stage of production and not least, improved coordination between stages and provided a more seamless interface between them. One major innovation was the automatic cutting machine introduced in 1969. This machine has made it possible to cut increasingly thick layers of cloth accurately. Moreover, cutting machines, pattern layouts and other functions are computer-assisted and in many cases designs can be transformed to patterns which are directly fed into cutting machines via electronic networks. These innovations are mainly related to the so-called pre-assembly phase of production, where technological developments have been more prominent than at the assembly stage. Preassembly is also the most capital intensive stage in the clothing sector and where quality and precision is the most important. If, for example the fabric is not cut precisely, the quality of the finished garment can be seriously damaged. Pre-assembly is therefore the stage in the production chain that is most likely to be done in-house by major clothing firms (Abernathy et al., 1999).

However modern, the assembly stage of the clothing sector is still labour-intensive and it is the stage that is most likely to be farmed out to lower-cost firms. Table 1 below shows the cost structure of the clothing sector, given as percentages of gross value of the sector's production.⁸ The countries included in the table constitute the major exporters or importers under the ATC for which data are available.

The table should be interpreted with caution since everything that is not wages and salaries is registered as capital income in the GTAP database. The income of self-employed persons, for example, is not included in wage income and consequently appears as capital income in the data. Nevertheless, the table indicates the unskilled labour-intensity of the clothing sector.9 India and China have very low import shares, reflecting the fact that most of the supply chain from textiles to ready-made clothing is located within the country. India has a number of restrictions and regulations in the cotton industry throughout the supply chain from farmers producing cotton to final garments. In Viet Nam, a recent, but fast-growing entrant to the world market in textile and clothing, the value-added share is very low and import content high. The Viet Namese structure illustrates the ease of entry into the clothing sector for poor countries that lack an industrial base, including suppliers of inputs. It also suggests that strict rules of origin may substantially raise the barrier to entry for poor countries with low industrial capacity. Another example of a country benefiting from low entry barriers in the sector is Bangladesh. The import value of textiles was about 60 per cent of the export value of clothing in 1991, but it had declined to about 40 per cent by 2001, indicating that backward linkages have developed over time.10

As discussed above, lean retailing has imposed a number of requirements on manufacturers, which have pushed some of the work and related costs up the supply chain to manufacturers. As a response manufacturers can either absorb the costs and thus lower margins, reduce costs by improving productivity, thereby shortening lead time and possibly relocating to lower-cost countries, or pass the costs further up the supply chain to the textile sector, which is discussed in the next section.

⁸ The shares are calculated from the GTAP version 6.2 inputoutput matrix for the year 2001.

⁹ One would expect that developed countries have a more capital-intensive technology than developing countries, suggesting that, roughly, a capital share over and above about 10 per cent in low-income countries is due to farming out production to self-employed and to excess profits.

¹⁰ Source of trade data for Bangladesh: Comtrade database. The data are at 2-digit HS level and includes sectors 50-63.

	Unskilled labour	Skilled labour	Capital	Total value added	Intermediate inputs	of which imported
Canada	25.9	5.0	10.2	41.2	58.8	19.8
USA	21.0	5.8	5.8	32.6	67.4	13.8
France	21.6	47	8.8	35.0	65.0	24.3
Italy	14.3	3.1	16.4	33.8	66.2	13.5
Japan	21.9	4.0	11.2	37.1	62.9	7.8
Hong Kong, China	22.6	7.9	12.9	43.4	56.6	13.0
Korea, Rep.	15.0	2.9	4.7	22.6	77.4	15.9
Chinese Taipei	20.8	3.5	6.0	30.3	69.7	10.9
China	18.2	2.5	12.2	32.9	67.1	5.7
India	21.1	2.9	7.8	31.8	68.2	1.8
Viet Nam	9.0	1.2	3.8	14.0	86.0	40.4
Czech Rep.	21.1	3.2	9.9	34.1	65.9	28.9
Morocco	14.6	2.1	10.9	27.6	72.4	37.9

Table 1: The cost structure of the clothing industry, selected countries, 2001 (per cent of gross output)

Source: GTAP.

3. Textiles

The textile industry is usually more capital intensive than the clothing industry and it is highly automated, particularly in developed countries. It consists of spinning, weaving and finishing, and the three functions are often undertaken in integrated plants. Traditionally, and in many markets, it is still the case that lead time in the textile sector is quite long and the capital intensity of the industry results in relatively large minimum orders. The textile industry is therefore less flexible in terms of adjusting to consumer tastes during a season than the clothing and retail sectors. The textile sector is thus in many ways the bottleneck in the supply chain.

In industrial countries, notably the United States, an increasing share of the textile sector produces household appliances and other industrial fabric e.g. for the furniture and car industries. This is a more R&D intensive segment of the industry and subject to less frequent changes in patterns, material and colours. Only about a third of US textile production was used for clothing in the late 1990s. The composition of inputs in the textile industry in a selected number of countries is presented in Table 2, which corresponds to Table 1 for the clothing sector.

The textile sector is less unskilled labour-intensive than the clothing sector. We notice that the import share is in general quite high but some of the richer and larger countries such as China; Hong Kong, China and India rely mainly on locally produced inputs for textiles as well as clothing.

It has been difficult for poor countries to create backward linkages to the local economy in the business environment described in this section. The import content of the clothing industry is therefore typically high in poor countries as indicated in Tables 1 and 2. But even if local value- added is low, the clothing sector plays a major role in job creation and many countries have been able to upgrade their clothing sectors by moving from assembly of imported cut fabrics and accessories to full-package production over time. Mexico's experience suggests that trade liberalization is important for this upgrading to take place, because a relatively free trade regime provides sufficient flexibility for the production networks to operate and rules of origin become less of a problem (Bair and Gereffi, 2001).

	Unskilled labour	Skilled labour	Capital	Total value added	Intermediate inputs	of which imported
Canada	22.7	3.1	10.3	36.1	63.9	24.2
USA	19.5	4.2	10.3	34.0	66.0	9.7
France	13.8	3.7	7.2	24.7	75.3	22.0
Italy	11.8	3.2	12.6	27.6	72.4	35.0
Japan	17.6	6.6	7.0	31.2	68.8	11.2
Hong Kong, China	9.0	3.9	10.8	23.8	76.2	5.8
Korea, Rep.	12.0	2.3	15.2	29.5	70.5	20.0
Chinese Taipei	10.4	3.3	8.3	22.0	78.0	10.2
China	9.7	1.6	12.0	23.2	76.8	8.1
India	17.8	2.8	6.7	27.3	72.7	4.0
Viet Nam	10.2	1.6	12.4	24.3	75.7	34.3
Czech Rep.	13.0	1.8	13.8	28.7	71.3	35.1
Morocco	5.8	0.9	6.2	13.0	87.0	44.3

Table 2: The cost structure of the textile industry, selected countries, 2001 (per cent of gross output)

Source: GTAP.

4. The integrated supply chain – some examples

An example from Sri Lanka illustrates how buyers can benefit from low production costs in developing countries while at the same time ensuring efficient operation of the supply chain in the face of poor financial, physical and institutional infrastructure. According to Kelegama and Foley (1999), 15 per cent of Sri Lankan producers' inputs are provided by the buyers without payment (i.e. the Sri Lankan suppliers are paid a net price for the final output), 55 per cent are bought by the local clothing producing firm from a supplier nominated by the buyer, while 30 per cent is bought by the local producer without any restrictions from the buyer. A similar pattern is found in Viet Nam, where importers place orders with East Asian intermediaries that provide raw materials, machinery and services such as quality control and packaging to Viet Namese exporters.11

The extent to which the textile and clothing industry participates in international production networks can also be illustrated by the so-called vertical specialization index. This measures the share of foreign value-added embodied in exports, or put differently, the imported intermediate inputs contained in exports as a share of total exports.¹² The index captures one important feature of international supply chains: parts, components and semi-finished goods cross the border several times before the final product reaches the consumer. This feature of vertical specialization implies that tariffs have a multiplicative effect on costs, which makes trade driven by vertical specialization particularly sensitive to tariffs, as is shown in Section V.C below. We have estimated the vertical specialization index for the textiles and clothing sector for a number of countries and the result is depicted in Figure 2.13

¹¹ This is an example of how traded business services can help poor countries enter world markets.

¹² Since it is usually assumed that exports are produced according to the same technology as like goods for domestic consumption, the vertical specialization index is equivalent to the cost share of imported intermediate products (e.g. as presented in the last column of Tables 1 and 2).

¹³ Estimated by author using the GTAP version 6.2 database and the methodology suggested by Hummels et al (2001).



Figure 2: Vertical specialization share in exports, selected countries and territories, 2001

The poorer and smaller countries in the sample have a higher vertical specialization index than the larger and richer ones, indicating that being part of a production network could be important for entering the export market for small and/or poor countries.¹⁴ We also note the low indices for India, China and Mexico.¹⁵ The large size of the local market is one reason for this. In addition, as far as India is concerned, there are a number of restrictions on the textile and clothing industry, including export quotas on cotton and cotton-based fibres in order to ensure that the domestic clothing industry has access to cheap local inputs. Furthermore, spinning mills are required to produce a certain per cent of their output in a form suitable for the handloom sector, a technology used by small-scale firms, but long abolished in most other significant textile and clothing exporting countries. This has rendered the Indian textiles and clothing industry a locally integrated industry, heavily protected, using outdated technology and lagging far behind China, for example, as far as productivity is concerned. Some of these restrictions have been abolished recently, including the reservation of the garment sector for small-scale firms. Import taxes on synthetic fibres have also been reduced substantially.16

An empirical estimate of the determinants of vertical specialization in the textiles and clothing industry finds that small countries are indeed more likely to engage in vertical specialization than larger countries. It was further found that the quality of infrastructure is an important determinant. The better the quality, the larger the share of total exports driven by vertical specialization Countries with a low score on control of corruption are less likely to participate in vertical specialization in the clothing sector, underscoring the importance of the smooth and timely flow of goods, payments and information. Finally, the MFA quota system as practiced by the United States has a negative impact on vertical specialization.17

Source: GTAP.

¹⁴ Ireland, Denmark and the Netherlands also have high vertical specialization indices in the textiles and clothing sectors.

¹⁵ According to the Comtrade database, Mexico has a significant imports of textiles, and the vertical specialization index estimated from GTAP seems to be on the low side on the basis of this observation.

¹⁶ See Elbehri et al (2003) for a discussion and an estimate of the impact of domestic reforms in isolation and simultaneously with the phasing out of the ATC.

¹⁷ The regression included the following variables: GDP, distance from equator (an index that measures distance from major markets, which in turn are concentrated in the temperate

To summarize this section, both in the high quality fashion end of the market and in the mass consumer market the buzzword of modern manufacturing is flexibility. The MFA quota system carried over to the ATC is not designed for such a business environment. The quotas are allocated at a detailed 6-digit HS level and in a particular country they are often spread out over a large number of products. This may make it difficult to specialize in niches or to create clusters. In addition, quotas make it more difficult to adjust rapidly to changing The uneven utilization of market conditions. quotas, ranging from zero to more than 100 per cent indicates that the quotas are indeed out of step with the developments in the market. In other words, the quota system impedes restricted countries from participating gainfully in international production networks.

B. EMPLOYMENT IN TEXTILES AND CLOTHING

One of the reasons why trade policy regarding the textile and clothing sector has been a politically sensitive issue is the importance of these activities in employment. Employment figures for the US, Canada and the major textile and clothing producers in the EU are presented below. If not otherwise stated the data are based on labour force surveys.¹⁸

Tab	le 3:	Employment	: in	textiles an	d	clothing,	AT(C countries	(thousands)
-----	-------	------------	------	-------------	---	-----------	-----	-------------	-------------

	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002		
	Textiles									
Canada	54	55	51	60	59	54	51	54		
United States*	688	660	653	642	614	595	539	489		
France**	134	129	126	126	123	119	116	109		
Germany	261	209	188	194	184	168	154	146		
Italy	332	340	326	351	334	352	344	335		
Portugal	99	87	83	101	101	100	106	104		
Spain	108	91	94	99	99	101	101	99		
United Kingdom**	188	185	184	178	162	149	135	120		
				Cloth	ing					
Canada	92	80	92	98	97	85	94	80		
United States*	814	743	700	639	556	497	427	358		
France**	137	128	121	115	106	95	87	81		
Germany	122	133	128	120	114	117	118	105		
Greece	66	65	60	52	50	50	51	45		
Italy	274	243	235	229	209	206	206	198		
Portugal	143	131	124	176	164	156	151	143		
Spain	117	114	120	111	126	123	125	116		
United Kingdom**	173	165	163	159	133	109	88	78		

Source: ILO (2004).

* Data based on establishment surveys.

** Data based on official estimates.

zone of the world), whether or not the country is an island, whether or not it is landlocked, tariff rates, dummies for whether or not the country has a quota under the MFA with the United States and EU respectively, and the quality of infrastructure. Of these only GDP, the US quota dummy and infrastructure were significant. See Nordås (2003b) for further details. Regressions were run for the textile and clothing sectors combined and for each of them separately.

¹⁸ The ILO data are not always comparable between countries since data for some countries are based on labour force surveys, some are based on establishment surveys, which are less comprehensive than the labour force surveys, and yet others are based on "official estimates". The establishment survey data thus are downward biased.

From the table it is clear that employment has been held up much better in the textiles sector than in the clothing sector in the ATC countries, but employment has declined substantially also in textiles in Germany, the United Kingdom and the United States. Only Portugal and Spain have avoided job losses in the clothing sector. According to the Commission of the European Communities (2003), the textile and clothing sector accounts for about 4 per cent of total manufacturing production and 7 per cent of employment in the manufacturing sector in the European Union. After enlargement in May 2004 however, the European Union employs about 2.7 million people in the textile and clothing sector. The employment data reflects a long-term decline in textiles and clothing in the major developed countries, in spite of the protective trade regime. Furthermore, it appears that a substantial adjustment has already taken place following regional trade agreements, particularly in the United States and United Kingdom where employment in the clothing sector has more than halved since 1995.

Turning to the major exporters to the ATC countries, textiles and clothing has been an important source of job creation during the period 1995 to the latest available year of information.¹⁹ Employment data from the ILO are presented in Table 4. It should be noted that the figures refer to paid employment and do not capture selfemployment in the sector, which in some countries can be significant. In the same way as in Table 3 the data are based on labour force surveys if not otherwise stated. As is clear from the table, data on employment in developing countries are less frequent than for developed countries. Furthermore, the discrepancy between various sources and estimation methods are much larger than for developed countries. The data should therefore be interpreted with caution and are more suitable for analyzing time trends within a country than for comparison between countries.

For Turkey, data based on establishment surveys are available for the period 1995-2000. They indicate that employment grew by more than 4 per cent per annum in the textile sector and almost 3 per cent per annum in the clothing sector during this period. Comparing the levels of employment from labour force surveys and establishment surveys in 2000, however, shows that establishment surveys capture less than 40 per cent of the employment covered in the labour force survey.

We notice that employment has declined in some of the exporting countries and territories since 1995, notably in some of the former Eastern European countries; Hong Kong, China and Chinese Taipei. It is also notable that employment has declined substantially in the Chinese textile sector following restructuring of the sector, while employment has levelled off in the clothing sector in spite of high export growth. Employment has, however, increased substantially in Turkey and Romania, two of the counties with increasing market shares on the EU market. Employment has also increased in the clothing sector in EU's North African trading partners, although employment has stagnated or declined in the textile sector in these countries. Also Mexico has experienced job growth in textiles and clothing following the entering into force of the NAFTA agreement in 1995, although employment in the clothing sector peaked in 2000. India and Indonesia have seen significant employment growth in the clothing sector. Comparable data are not available in the ILO database for Bangladesh and the Dominican Republic, but in Bangladesh the textile and clothing sectors accounted for about half of industrial employment in 2002 (Textile Intelligence, 2003). According to UNIDO data, employment in the textile and clothing sector in the Dominican Republic was about 360,000 in 1997, the only year that data The employment data thus could be found. indicate a shift in employment from both the ATC countries (EU, USA and Canada) and upper middle-income countries to low-income countries and lower middle income countries.

¹⁹ Major exporters to the ATC countries are defined as the top ten exporters of textiles and clothing to the EU and USA respectively. See Figures 3-6 below.

	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
				Text	tiles			
Czech Republic	100	86	90	86	74	79	76	72
Poland*	159	153	146	128	108	97	88	N/A
Romania*	186	189	159	128	105	94	98	91
Turkey	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	471	493	584
Morocco*	70	70	70	71	69	70	N/A	N/A
Tunisia***	18	19	18	18	9	12	N/A	N/A
Mexico	187	184	198	240	263	269	317	N/A
China"	6730	6340	7302	5780	5109	4829	4775	N/A
Hong Kong, China*	59	48	41	33	31	27	27	25
India"	1579	1518	1529	1330	1283	1289	N/A	N/A
Indonesia*	N/A	N/A	N/A	595	638	662	679	N/A
Philippines*'	56	53	54	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Chinese Taipei*	161	155	154	154	154	154	142	135
				Clot	hing			
Czech Republic	50	52	49	50	47	41	37	36
Poland*	240	260	254	259	225	211	194	N/A
Romania*	189	203	181	246	240	261	290	302
Turkey	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	487	468	501
Morocco*	102	106	117	122	127	135	N/A	N/A
Tunisia***	94	103	103	103	103	110	N/A	N/A
Mexico	476	486	525	740	723	760	681	N/A
China"	1750	1680	2439	2117	2027	2156	2027	N/A
Hong Kong, China*	80	64	53	44	40	36	30	23
India"	264	267	283	279	296	331	N/A	N/A
Indonesia*	N/A	N/A	N/A	349	436	485	462	N/A
Philippines*'	143	154	154	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Chinese Taipei*	114	107	103	101	96	93	86	80

Table 4: Employment in textile and clothing (thousands)

Source: ILO (2004) and UNIDO, various issues. * Data based on establishment surveys. *** Data based on administrative records. ' ISIC revision 2 code for 1995, ISIC revision 3 for subsequent years. " Data are from UNIDO.

III. THE AGREEMENT ON TEXTILES AND CLOTHING

Protection of the textile and clothing sector has a long history in United States and Europe. In the 1950s, Japan; Hong Kong, China; India and Pakistan agreed to voluntary export restraints for cotton textile products to the United States. In 1962 a Long Term Agreement Regarding International Trade in Cotton Textiles (LTA) was signed under the auspices of the GATT (replacing a 1-year short-term agreement). The LTA was renegotiated several times until it was replaced by the Multi Fibre Agreement (MFA), which came into force in 1974. The MFA, as the name suggests, extended restrictions on trade to wool and man-made fibres in addition to cotton.

The MFA aimed at an orderly opening of restricted markets in order to avoid "market disruptions". Like the LTA, it was supposed to be a temporary measure. The science of quantitative trade policy analysis was not very well developed in the 1970s. The burden of proof of what constituted a "market disruption" was therefore relatively weak and the agreement came to comprise most developing country exports to the United States and the EU. By the end of the second MFA (1981), 80 per cent of imports of textiles and apparel into United States were covered by bilateral quota agreements with 20 countries and territories and by consultative mechanisms with another 11 countries (Krishna and Tan, 1997). The MFA violated the principles of the multilateral system in several ways:

- It violated the most favoured nation principle;
- It applied quantitative restrictions rather than tariffs;
- It discriminated against developing countries;
- It was non-transparent.

The MFA was renegotiated four times, the last time in 1991, and it finally expired in 1994. Six developed countries applied quotas under the MFA during the final years of the agreement (the EU, Austria, Canada, Finland, Norway and the United States), and the quotas were applied almost exclusively to imports from developing countries (Francois et. al., 2000). The expiration of the MFA did not, however, mean the end of quotas on textile and clothing exports from developing countries. Instead the MFA was followed by the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing (ATC), which came into force with the establishment of the WTO in 1995. ATC is *not* an extension of the MFA. Rather, it is a transitory regime between the MFA and the full integration of textiles and clothing into the multilateral trading system. Four countries carried the MFA restrictions into the ATC (Canada, the EU, Norway and the United States).²⁰ The integration is to take place in four steps over a 10year period, as indicated in Table 5. The steps can be seen as two separate processes:

- The progressive integration of products into the GATT 1994 as the integrated products are no longer part of the ATC but fall under the GATT;
- The progressive increase of the quotas that remain under the ATC.

The products to be included in the agreement are listed in the Annex to the ATC. This Annex includes, however, items that were not restricted under the MFA and the list therefore served to inflate the basis from which liberalization was calculated.

Date	Minimum volume integrated (per cent)	Accumulated volume integrated (per cent)	Remaining quota growth rate
01.01.1995	16	16	16
01.01.1998	17	33	25
01.01.2002	18	51	27
01.01.2005	49	100	Full integration

Table 5: Integration of textiles and clothing into GATT

²⁰ Austria and Finland, which had applied quotas within the MFA in 1994 became EU members on 1 January, 1995.

It is important to note that the percentages to be liberalized refer to total volume of trade in textiles and apparel in 1990.²¹ The choice of products to be integrated in any of the stages is left to the Members within the framework given by Article 2 of the ATC. The last column in Table 5 refers to increases in the quotas that remained under restrictions. The 16 per cent in the first step is understood to mean that the annual increase carried over from the MFA should be multiplied by 1.16. For example, if the quota on a particular item increased by 6 per cent annually under the MFA, it should increase by 6*1.16 = 6.96per cent annually under the first phase of the ATC. Since the restricting countries had different quota increase rates during the MFA, the differences remaining under the ATC were such that the accumulated aggregate increase of the quotas over the 10-year ATC period were 17.8 per cent in the EU and 25 per cent in the United States, compared to what they would have been with the continuation of the MFA (Reinert, 2000).

Whether or not the quota growth has represented a significant liberalization is disputed. The EU, Canada and United States argue that the quota growth is sufficient to render the quotas de facto non-binding by the end of the ten-year period for most of the restricted items, while a number of restricted members complain that quota increases have not significantly improved market access so far. This issue will be further discussed below, but for now we notice that there has been full compliance with the quota growth rate commitments (WTO, 2001).

Turning to the integration process, it is fair to say that progress has been limited. Stage 1 brought the integration of *one single* restricted product by one country into the GATT – Canada integrated work

Table 6: Integration during the first 3 stages

gloves. Nevertheless, all the restricting countries complied with their first stage commitments. This was possible because of the extension of the list of products in the Annex to ATC, as mentioned above. The opportunity to integrate non-restricted products had not been exhausted during step 1, so step 2 saw more of the same – it was the unrestricted products that were integrated first.

When the third stage was reached, the opportunity to integrate products that previously had not been restricted under the MFA had been exhausted. However, the Textiles Monitoring Body observed that there was a tendency to integrate products where quota utilization was particularly low. In the case of Canada, out a total of 27 specific constraints to be eliminated, 19 had a utilization rate of less than 50 per cent in the year 2000, and of these six had zero utilization rates. The corresponding figures for the EU were that out of 37 specific constraints to be eliminated, 28 had a utilization rate of below 50 per cent, while in the United States, out of 43 specific constraints to be eliminated, 21 had utilization rates below 50 per cent and of these the utilization rate was zero for three quotas. Although these figures only show a snapshot of the situation in 2000, and may or may not represent general trends, they concur with the statement of developing country members to the effect that during the first and second steps liberalization was not commercially meaningful to them. They further claimed that the proportion of the integrated products that represented real liberalization was in the range of 0 - 3 per cent of 1990 import value covered by the ATC (WTO, 2001).

A summary of the progress when the commitments for step 3 had been received by the Textile Monitoring Body is presented in Table $6.^{22}$

	Constraints carried over from MFA	Remaining constraints to be eliminated 01.01 2005	Share clothing constraints eliminated before step 4 (%)
Canada	295	239	7
EU	218	167	6
USA	758	701	6.5

Source: WTO (2001).

²¹ The volume is measured in physical units in categories defined by the Harmonised System and the list of integrated items must encompass products from each of the four broader groups: tops and yarns, fabrics, made-up textile products and clothing (Article 2).

²² The number of constraints includes specific limits, sub-limits and group limits where applicable. The share of clothing constraints eliminated relates to the share of total volume integrated.

The number of constraints does not reflect the value or volume of imports, and it is important to stress that the Members included in Table 6 have fully complied with their obligations under the ATC. Nevertheless, the large number of constraints left to the fourth stage and the low share of clothing in the volume of integrated products so far suggests extensive back-loading and that the most sensitive products and the products with the highest value-added have been left to the final stage of integration. In short, the table leaves the impression that liberalization has been kept to a bare minimum.

Extensive use of the safeguard measures according to article 6 in the ATC during the first stage of liberalization further contributed to the perception of lack of will to liberalize. No less than 33 requests for consultations were registered from January 1995 to July 1997 (i.e., stage 1); 26 from the United States and 7 from Brazil. Of these, 24 came in the first half of 1995. Most of the measures were found to be unjustified when challenged by the Textile Monitoring Body (or the Dispute Settlement Body in some cases).

During the second stage there were 29 requests for consultations regarding safeguard measures, (one by the United States, nine by Columbia, two by Poland and 17 by Argentina). No requests were made during the year 2000 and it appears that recourse to safeguards has declined, particularly among the members that carried MFA constraints into the ATC. The most probable reason for this is that the Textile Monitoring Board's findings have clarified the criteria for using safeguards and that this has discouraged unjustified cases (WTO, 2001).

On the brighter side of the implementation of the ATC, it is worth noticing that 11 countries chose to integrate the clothing and textile sector into GATT 1994 immediately. Imports of textiles and clothing in the restricting countries have actually increased, and developing countries and countries in transition have gained market share during the period 1995-2002 as demonstrated in the next section.

To conclude, steps 1 to 3 have been implemented according to the letter in the agreement, but with the exception of Norway, the four countries that carried the MFA restrictions into the ATC have to a large extent used all opportunities available to retain restrictions in the most sensitive areas. They have inflated the basis from which liberalization is measured and they have first liberalized the restrictions that appear not to be binding. This section analyzes trade patterns in textiles and clothing during the period 1995-2002.23 China was the world's largest exporter both of textiles and clothing in 1995 as well as 2002. Its world market share (excluding intra-EU trade) increased from 22.5 per cent to 30 per cent over this period in the clothing sector and from 16 to 22 per cent in the textile sector. The other dominant exporters of textiles in both years are Italy, Germany, Republic of Korea, Chinese Taipei, France, Belgium, Japan and the UK, while Turkey and India had made it to the top 10 list in 2002. Developed countries thus dominate exports in the textiles sector, indicating that the case for continued protection is weak. In the clothing sector the major exporters in addition to China are Italy; Hong Kong, China; Germany; France; Turkey; India; Indonesia; Republic of Korea and Thailand. Mexico had made it to the top ten in 2002, ranking fifth, mainly due to NAFTA.

A. SOURCES OF IMPORTS TO USA AND THE EUROPEAN UNION

Since 1995 the share of the ATC countries (Canada, the EU and the United States) in world imports of textiles has increased from about 35 per cent to 43.5 per cent in 2002 (excluding intra-

EU trade). The increase is mainly due to an increase in the US's share from 14 to 21 per cent while the shares of EU (again excluding intra-EU trade) and Canada have remained stable at about 19 and 2.7 per cent respectively. Turning to clothing, the ATC countries' combined share of world imports has increased from 62 per cent to 67 per cent during the same period. Canada's share has increased, but is only about 2 per cent in 2002, while the EU and the United States are moving in opposite directions. The EU's share declined slightly from about 32 per cent to about 30 per cent, while the US share increased from 30 per cent to 35 per cent. Thus, the ATC countries are relatively more important markets for exporters of clothing than for exporters of textiles.

The second half of the 1990s saw changes in both the EU and the United States in relation to the sourcing of textile and clothing imports, reflecting regional trade agreements and structural changes in the textile and clothing sectors. Starting with the United States, Figures 3 and 4 depict the sources of imports of textiles and clothing respectively in 1995 and 2002. Both figures show the 10 largest suppliers to the United States, while all other suppliers are included in the "Other" category.

²³ Textiles and clothing in this section are defined as sector 17 and 18 respectively in ISIC Revision 3 classification.

Figure 3: Source of imports of textiles to the USA





Source: Comtrade database.

Growth in imports of textiles to the United States during the period 1995 to 2002 was about 9 per cent annually in nominal dollar terms. We notice the sharp increase in Mexico's market share, probably reflecting the impact of NAFTA. The regionalization of the market is further indicated by the entry of Honduras among the 10 largest suppliers, while Japan has fallen out of the top 10 list. We also notice that low-income countries in Asia such as India and Pakistan have climbed in the ranking at the expense of higher-income Asian suppliers such as Chinese Taipei and Hong Kong, China; although India's market share has remained constant. Also China's market share has been fairly stable during the period 1995-2002.

Figure 4: Source of imports of clothing to USA





Source: Comtrade database.

Total imports of clothing grew somewhat less than textiles, at an annual average rate of about 5.5 per cent in nominal dollar terms. Mexico has increased its market share sharply also in the clothing sector, but after catching up with China in 1999, the market share has fallen back somewhat and China had more than regained its 1995 market share by 2002. One noticeable development during the period is the increase in the market share of "Other" reflecting the entry and growth in market share of a number of smaller suppliers, notably Sri Lanka (the eleventh largest). We also notice the sharp fall in relatively high-cost Asian exporters' market shares, e.g. Hong Kong, China; Chinese Taipei and Republic of Korea. Among the 10 largest exporters in textiles and clothing to the USA in 2002, all but Italy faced quotas on some products (US Customs Services, 2003).

It is also of interest to look at how much of total exports of the countries included in Figures 3 and 4 go to the United States, and how much of their imports of textiles and clothing come from the United States. Table 7 presents the data for 2002. The first two columns show the share of the country's total exports destined for the United States, while the last two columns show the US share in the country's total imports.

	Share of total exp (per	oorts going to USA cent)	US share of total imports (per cent)		
	Textiles	Clothing	Textiles	Clothing	
Canada	94.2	94.3	50.3	10.4	
Mexico	88.2	95.9	77.2	65.4	
Dominican Republic	50.2	95.0	38.2	21.7	
Honduras	42.8	91.8	32.8	24.7	
Bangladesh	19.0	54.3	0.6	2.7	
China	9.9	12.6	1.2	0.7	
Hong Kong, China	29.9	49.2	1.4	0.5	
India	20.0	31.2	2.2	2.2	
Indonesia	10.7	50.2	4.0	2.0	
Korea, Rep.	13.9	53.4	2.8	1.4	
Philippines	44.3	78.0	2.8	6.5	
Thailand	23.3	56.5	2.9	3.6	
Chinese Taipei	9.1	72.7	5.5	1.2	
Italv	5.9	12.1	1.0	0.6	

Table 7: The US trading partners' trade with the United States, 2002

Source: Comtrade database.

The US takes a very large share of Latin American exports, as one should expect from the discussion in section II. In particular, the two NAFTA partners, Canada and Mexico send almost all their exports in these two sectors to the United States, while Mexico also sources most of its imports from the United States. A similar pattern can be discerned for Honduras and the Dominican Republic, although the United States features less prominently in these countries' imports.

Turning to the EU, imports (excluding intra-EU trade) of textiles grew by about 3 per cent in nominal dollar terms during the period 1995-2002.

Behind this modest growth lies a substantial shift from intra-EU trade to imports from lower cost external suppliers. In fact, intra-EU trade declined from 61 to 50 per cent of total trade during this period. Moreover, it also declined slightly in nominal dollar value. Changes in the EU's external sourcing of textile imports are characterized by a sharp increase in Turkey's market share following the EU-Turkey customs union that entered into force in 1996. Switzerland, the fourth largest exporter in 1995, has fallen out of the list of the 10 largest exporters, while Bangladesh has entered the list and gained a significant market share. China has also increased its market share. Figure 5: Sources of imports of textiles to the EU





Source: Comtrade database.

Total clothing imports (in nominal dollar terms) from external suppliers grew by about 2.5 per cent annually during the period. Also in the clothing sector this reflects a shift from intra-EU trade to lower cost external suppliers, and intra-EU trade declined from about 36 to 30 per cent of the total during the period in question. Figure 6 depicts sources of imports of clothing, and shows that China was the largest supplier in both years and that its market share has increased. Turkey has advanced to second place following the customs union between EU and Turkey, but its market share

has been stable at around 10 per cent. The countries and territories on the 10 largest exporters list have not changed, but the ranking according to market share has. Notably, Romania has more than doubled its market share. Comparing EU and US sources of imports, a regional dimension is clear. Of the 10 largest exporters to the EU in the textile and clothing sectors, China; India; Indonesia; Hong Kong, China; Pakistan and Republic of Korea faced quotas while the others did not (European Commission, SIGL, 2003).

Figure 6: Sources of imports of clothing to EU



Source: Comtrade database.

The relative importance of the EU as a trading partner for the countries and territories included in Figures 5 and 6 are presented in Table 8, which corresponds to Table 7 above. Comparing the two tables, we see that EU and the United States take about the same share of China's exports while Hong Kong, China and the Republic of Korea are more oriented towards the United States. It is also noticeable that the countries and territories located close to the United States or the EU respectively have a high share of total imports being sourced from these major markets. This is not the case for the Asian exporters on the list, who source their inputs from within Asia.

	Share of to (per	otal exports cent)	EU share of total impor (per cent)		
	Textiles	Clothing	Textiles	Clothing	
Czech Republic	71.0	82.6	76.3	27.7	
Poland	77.8	89.6	68.2	27.5	
Romania	84.5	94.1	84.3	79.3	
Turkey	59.6	67.8	40.8	63.5	
Morocco	95.9	95.2	86.0	91.2	
Tunisia	91.5	97.4	91.0	96.1	
Bangladesh	59.7	40.9	0.7	1.4	
China	8.7	12.8	4.4	12.3	
Hong Kong, China	19.3	21.1	5.9	4.3	
Indonesia	22.4	23.5	5.9	3.1	
India	27.4	39.4	11.0	17.8	
Korea, Rep.	8.7	8.4	12.4	14.9	
United States	7.1	5.5	9.1	3.9	

Table 8: EU's trading partners' trade with EU, 2002

Source: Comtrade database.

A similar pattern as was found for the United States and the Latin American countries included in Table 5 is found for the EU and Central European and North African countries, where Tunisia and Morocco trade almost exclusively with the EU. Again, regional agreements facilitating the development of regional supply chains appear to be the major driving force.

The regional dimension is also clear when we take a closer look at the major Asian textile and clothing exporters' sourcing of imports. China sourced more than 80 per cent of its textiles imports from Japan, Hong Kong, China; Chinese Taipei and the Republic of Korea, but as suggested by Table 1 above, China sourced most of its inputs for the clothing industry domestically. Hong Kong, China had a similar pattern as China, with more than 80 per cent of total textiles imports coming from China, Japan, Chinese Taipei and the Republic of Korea, with China alone accounting for more than 60 per cent. Also, the Philippines, Thailand and Indonesia sourced between 75 and 82 per cent of their textile imports from the five large Asian textile exporters (China; Hong Kong, China; Chinese Taipei; the Republic of Korea and Japan). India imports very little textiles, with an import value of less than \$1 billion in 2002, and more than half came from other Asian countries and territories. Bangladesh, by contrast, imported about 84 per cent of its textiles from the five big Asian countries and territories, but replacing Japan with India.²⁴

Comparing developments in market shares in the United States and the European Union and developments in employment in the textile and clothing sectors, it appears to be a high correlation between changes in market shares and changes in employment. In particular, the upper middle income countries in Asia have lost market shares and jobs in textile and clothing sector, probably as a result of changing trade policies and changing comparative advantage.²⁵

²⁴ The figures in this section are taken from Comtrade and are in respect of 2002 except for Bangladesh and Thailand, where the latest available figures are 2001.

²⁵ According to ILO labour statistics the unemployment rate has increased in Hong Kong, China, Chinese Taipei and Republic of Korea during the period 1995-2002, but the unemployment rate of women is lower than for men in all three countries, suggesting that the mainly female laid off workers in the textile and clothing sector may have had less difficulties in finding alternative employment than laid off workers in other restructuring industries.

Recent debate on the impact of the phasing out of textile and clothing quotas has been concerned with China's rapid expansion in world market shares. Before analyzing the impact of the final stage of phasing out the quotas in the next section, it is useful to take a look at how China's market shares have developed in unrestricted, relatively developed markets over the period 1995 – 2002. Japan, Australia, Switzerland and South Africa are such quota-free markets. Table 9 presents the figures.

A high and rapidly increasing market share is observed for China following its accession to the WTO in 2001 in Australia, Japan and South Africa, but a very modest share in Switzerland. Japan already sourced a large share of its imports of textiles and clothing from China in 1995. Australia and South Africa are relative far from all significant textile and clothing exporters and China is at a less time-to-market disadvantage in these markets than in the EU and USA. The major sources of imports to Switzerland are the European Union members, notably Germany. Major suppliers to South Africa in addition to China are the major Asian exporters as far as textiles are concerned, but Malawi is the second largest supplier of clothing to South Africa, and Mozambique also features among the 10 largest suppliers. Again we observe the regional dimension, although China indeed dominates the markets except in Switzerland. However, a comprehensive recent study (Institut Français de la Mode, 2004) argues that other Asian countries (India, Indonesia and Viet Nam) are catching up with China in terms of favourable unit labour costs and that the Chinese industry is still weak in design and fashion capabilities and "reactive production" along the lines described in Section II in this study.

Table 9: China's share of total imports, selected countries

	Tex (per	tiles cent)	Clothing (per cent)		
	1995	2002	1995	2002	
Australia	19.3	35.2	54.3	70.4	
Japan	41.1	66.5	59.1	77.5	
South Africa	5.9	18.5	29.0	56.3	
Switzerland	3.9	5.2	8.8	9.3	

Source: Comtrade database.

V. THE IMPACT OF PHASING OUT THE ATC

The impact of implementing the ATC has several dimensions. First, there is the political gain related to the credibility of the multilateral trading system at a time when the system is experiencing Second, there are the considerable strains. efficiency gains from eliminating highly distorting quotas that have lead to an inefficient global allocation of textile and clothing production. Third, there is the loss of quota rents on the part of ATC exporters. Finally, there is the gain to consumers. Before discussing the gains in more detail, it is useful to briefly recapture how quotas work. In theory a quota is equivalent to a tariff and as such it increases the local price of the product in question in the importing country, and reduces local demand for the product. However, while the increased price in the case of tariffs partly benefits local producers and partly the government through tariff revenue, the increased price due to the MFA/ATC partly benefits local producers and partly accrues to the exporters as quota rents.

Another impact of the quotas (and tariffs) is that when the importing country is large, quotas lower the price of the product in question in unrestricted markets because the large country's reduced demand is sufficient to reduce total world demand. Thus, it is likely that the MFA/ATC quotas lower the world market price of textiles and clothing outside the EU, the United States and Canada.

How large these price and quantity effects are depends on how large the quotas are relative to local demand and the price elasticity of demand. Estimates of the tariff equivalents of the quotas applied by the EU in 1997 found that they varied from 1.3 per cent to 21.6 per cent for textiles and from 3 per cent to 34.8 per cent for clothing. In both sectors the lowest barriers were towards Central and Eastern Europe, while the highest barriers were towards Asian countries, e.g. China, India, Malaysia, Indonesia and the Philippines (Francois et. al. 2000). We notice that the tariff equivalents of the quotas are by far higher than the average tariffs facing manufactured imports to the EU and the United States. The ATC quotas are therefore seen as discriminating against developing countries. If the quotas are set at a level higher than local demand at world market prices, then the quota will not be binding, and will have no effect besides the administrative costs of managing the quota system, which may still be significant both on the exporting and importing side.

Quotas can also be seen as a tax on exports in the exporting country. An estimate of the equivalent average export tax for India found that it varied between 24 per cent (in 1997) and 40 per cent (in 1999) during the period 1993-99 for exports to the United States and between 14 per cent (in 1994) and 19 per cent (in 1999) for exports to the EU. India also has a number of domestic distortions that if eliminated would improve the performance of the clothing and textiles sector substantially. Thus, according to a study by the World Bank, the welfare gains to India from the elimination of the ATC quotas would be three times as high if combined with domestic reforms (Kathuria et. al. 2001).

Finally, the MFA and ATC provisions create incentives for rent-seeking, transhipment, rerouting and false declarations concerning country or place of origin, and fibre content of the textiles and clothing in question. There is therefore a need to use resources on monitoring and controlling trade in textiles and clothing, in addition to the administration costs of this relatively complex system. These costs and distortions will be saved when the quotas are phased out.

As indicated in the introduction, relative prices, trade barriers and comparative advantage are one set of parameters that determine trade patterns in the textile and clothing sector. In addition, proximity to markets and ease of transactions are likely to have a significant impact on trade flows. In the following we explore each of them and discuss the results in the light of the elimination of quotas under the ATC.

A. A SIMULATION OF THE IMPACT OF THE PHASING OUT OF ATC QUOTAS

A number of studies estimating the gains from the Uruguay Round were published in the period 1995-97. The estimates varied somewhat depending on model specifications, but they had in common that a large part of the total estimated gains of the Uruguay Round – ranging from 20 per cent to 50 per cent of the total – stem from elimination of quotas on industrial goods, of which the ATC is the most important component (Reinert, 2000). Since most of the liberalization of the textiles and clothing sector is back-loaded to 2005, the estimates should still have relevance. Francois et. al. (1997), for example, find that the impact of eliminating the quotas on exports of textiles is an increase in export volume ranging from 17.5 per cent to 72.5 per cent. The lower figure only takes into account static gains, while the higher one also takes into account a number of dynamic effects. The estimates of export increases in the clothing sector range from 70 per cent to 190 per cent under the same model specifications. The welfare gains (i.e. increases in income) from elimination of quotas are estimated to account for 42 per cent of total gains of Uruguay Round liberalization in the static model and 65 per cent in the dynamic model. The welfare gains are, however, concentrated in the *importing* countries, while there is a small welfare loss in the exporting countries in the static version of the model, but an income gain also in exporting countries in the dynamic version of the model. The reason why there is a welfare loss in exporting countries in the static version is that the rise in exports is not sufficient to compensate for the loss of quota rents.

Which estimate is the most realistic? There is considerable scepticism regarding the realism of the most optimistic forecasts of dynamic models in general. For example, there were a number of dynamic estimates of the gains from the European integration following the implementation of the Maastricht Treaty in the early 1990s, which turned out to be too optimistic. Further, a number of studies of scale effects and international spillovers have found such effects to be smaller than anticipated. The most optimistic forecasts should therefore be taken with a pinch of salt. On the other hand, there are reasons to believe that the quota rents are already shared with the multinational retailers as discussed above, and the loss of quota rent is probably less than the model estimates.

To shed some more light on the issue, this section presents the results of a simulation using the GTAP model. This is a general equilibrium model for the world economy, particularly suitable for trade policy analysis. We believe that general equilibrium models of this type are better at projecting relative performance of countries than absolute performance. The results are therefore presented in the form of developments in the market share of the major textiles and clothing exporters to the EU, the United States, and Canada. The GTAP model has 1997 as its base year, while the ATC was introduced in 1995 and all quotas will be phased out by 2005. As shown in section III, little had changed from 1995 to 1997. A simulation using 1997 as the base year should therefore not constitute a major problem for analysing the impact of the ATC. The United States and Canada are aggregated into one region in the model. The two scenarios that are simulated are the base line GTAP solution and a simulation where the quotas are eliminated and all other parameters and resource endowments are kept constant.

Table 10 presents the GTAP estimate of the export tax equivalent of the textiles and clothing quotas in the base year. The exporting countries included in the table are those included in the model for which the equivalent export tax exceeds 5 per cent in the United States, the EU or both.

	USA/Canada (per cent)		EU (per cent)	
	Textiles	Clothing	Textiles	Clothing
Bangladesh	15.3	8.1	8.4	7.3
China	20.0	33.0	12.0	15
Hong Kong, China	1.0	10.0	1.0	5.0
Hungary	6.9	5.0	0	0
India	9.8	34.2	12.0	15.2
Indonesia	8.1	7.8	6.3	6.0
Philippines	6.5	7.8	5.7	6.0
Poland	6.9	5.0	0	0
Sri Lanka	15.3	8.3	5.5	6.6
Thailand	8.3	13.2	6.4	7.8
Turkey	7.0	4.9	1.5	0
Viet Nam	6.9	7.1	7.5	7.2
Other Central Europe	6.9	5.0	0	0

Table 10: Export tax equivalent of quotas base year

Source: GTAP database.

We notice that in most cases the United States has the most restrictive quotas of the two major importers and that the EU has no quotas on the Central and Eastern European countries. It is also generally the case that the quotas are more restrictive for the clothing sector than for the textile sector, although there are some exceptions such as Bangladesh and the Eastern European countries. By far the most restricted countries are India and China. We first assess the relation between locally produced and imported textiles and apparel. The import share of total domestic demand for textiles and clothing in the United States/Canada and the EU before and after quotas were eliminated is presented in Table 11 below.

Since the United States/Canada has the most restrictive quotas, the impact on import share of

total demand is the most dramatic here. The import share in clothing will increase by as much as a third according to the model simulations. In the EU, the impact on import penetration is less dramatic and the major impact will be seen in the sourcing of imports as will be further discussed below.

The European Union

The European Union has less restrictive quotas than the United States/Canada on both textiles and clothing. It also has provided a number of least developed countries with tariff- and quota-free market access, provided certain criteria such as rules of origin are satisfied. Finally, the EU has entered free trade agreements with a number of Central and Eastern European countries and some of them became members of the EU in May, 2004.

Table 11: Imports as share of domestic demand with and without quotas

	USA/Canada (per cent)		EU (per cent)	
	Textiles	Clothing	Textiles	Clothing
Before	20.9	33.8	52.5	48.5
After	21.5	45.0	53.0	51.0



Figure 7: Market shares before and after quota elimination, textiles, EU

"Africa" in the figure refers to sub-Saharan Africa, XNF is North Africa excluding Morocco, while XCE is Central and Eastern Europe excluding Hungary and Poland which are included separately in the model. China makes the largest gain in market share, followed by India. Also, Bangladesh makes a substantial gain compared to 1997, but not compared to the present situation as depicted in

Figure 5. The countries losing market shares are those enjoying unrestricted or preferential access to the EU market before the phasing out of quotas – most OECD countries, and sub-Saharan Africa. Turning to the clothing sector, Figure 8 illustrates the impact of quota elimination on market shares in this sector.

Figure 8: Market shares before and after quota elimination, clothing, EU



Before



After

Both India and China will almost double their market share, and China will be the single largest exporter. All the countries listed in Table 9 above with quotas equivalent to an export tax of more than 5 per cent in absolute value will gain market share, while Africa, the United States/Canada, Turkey, Central and Eastern European countries and richer Asian countries and territories such as Republic of Korea and Chinese Taipei will lose market share.

United States/Canada

The United States/Canada and Mexico formed the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) in 1994. However, while Canada and the United States have retained quotas under the ATC, Mexico's exports have been subject to quotas in the past. These have been eliminated within NAFTA, but Mexico still faced quotas in the EU in the base year of the simulations. It is therefore natural to split NAFTA into the United States/Canada and Mexico in the simulation. Figure 9 below shows the sources of imports to the US/Canadian market before and after the ATC quotas are eliminated.



Figure 9: Market shares before and after quota elimination, textiles, USA

Following the elimination of quotas, China increases its market share by about 50 percent. The list of the 10 largest exporters remains the same, but the ranking has changed. We also notice that the combined market share of smaller exporters has increased. Within the ROW group Bangladesh and Sri Lanka both increase their market shares by almost 50 per cent, but from a low base. Nevertheless, this gain in market share represents a substantial increase in these countries' exports of

textiles. Other countries losing market shares are African countries that have had preferential access to the market before the phasing out of quotas and Latin American countries.

Turning to clothing, Figure 10 shows the changes in sources of imports following the elimination of quotas for this sector. Figure 10: Market shares before and after quota elimination, clothing, USA



Before ATC

After ATC



Here the impact is much more dramatic. China and India combined take 65 per cent of the export market - China triples its market share while India's market share is quadrupled. All others lose market share and the largest losses are incurred by African countries and Mexico, whose market shares decline by close to 70 per cent. These results are largely in line with other GTAP simulations (e.g. Ianchovichina and Martin, 2001). A cautionary note is, however, pertinent at this point. The GTAP results are driven by changes in relative prices, rendering the previously restricted low-cost producers more competitive and thus increasing their market share. The limits of such low-cost producers' expansion in the model simulations are production capacity constraints and the fact that increased demand for unskilled labour in textiles and clothing industries raises the wage rate and cost competitiveness is somewhat reduced as a result. The model simulations do not capture the changes in technology and possible increase in the relevance of time and distance as a trade barrier. Therefore the projected decline in the market share of Mexico and the rest of Latin America may be exaggerated in the model simulation. Nevertheless, there is no doubt that India and China will increase their world market share substantially in the textiles and clothing sector following the elimination of quotas as agreed under the ATC.

Comparing the predicted market shares with those recorded in 2002, it is also notable that some of the countries that have benefited from preferential access to the EU and US markets will lose market shares as these preferences are eroded. Mexico and the Dominican Republic are in a position to lose market shares in clothing in the United States compared to 2002. Turkey, North Africa and Eastern Europe are in danger of losing market shares in the clothing sector in EU compared to 2002.

One aspect of the liberalization of the clothing sector that is not captured in any of the models is the employment effect in poor countries. While the CGE models assume full employment in all scenarios, experience from several poor countries show that the establishment of export-oriented clothing firms has mobilized labour that was previously not in the labour force, first and foremost women. Between 70 per cent and 80 per cent of the workers in the clothing sector are women in most poor countries, and many – perhaps most of them – would not have had an income in the formal sector in the absence of the clothing industry. If we assume that these workers have a higher income and higher productivity in the clothing sector than in their best alternative economic activity, the income gains in poor, clothing-exporting countries are higher than the model estimates, and so is probably their supply response to improved market access.

B. DETERMINANTS OF BILATERAL TRADE FLOWS

The relative importance of political and physical trade barriers can be estimated by means of the socalled gravity model. In this analytical framework trade is determined by the size of the market of the exporter and importer, the distance between them (which is a proxy for transport costs) and tariffs and other trade barriers. The determinants of the EU's imports from external sources by exporter were estimated for the year 2000 on 2-digit HS One variable that is of interest is categories. whether or not the exporter has a border with the EU. This variable captures the importance of proximity to the market. For the sample as a whole (i.e. when including all 2-digit HS sectors from 50 to 63 in the same regressions) having a border with the European Union multiplies trade flows by a factor of 2.7. At the 2-digit sector level a more complex picture emerges. Having a border with the EU appears not to be significant for trade flows in most of the textiles sectors (50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 60), while the border effect is very strong for clothing, multiplying trade flows by a factor of 9, all other things equal. It is also found that trade flows fall off with distance at a rate of about 5 per cent for every 10 per cent increase in distance for the sample as a whole. Again, there are large differences between sub-sectors. Imports of silk and wool, for example, are unrelated to the distance to the exporter, while the sectors in which trade falls off most sharply with distance are "other vegetable textile fibres" (53), "wadding, felt and nonwoven; yarns; twine, cordage etc." (56) and carpets (59), where trade falls off by 12 per cent when distance increases by 10 per cent.

Turning to trade policy, the analysis includes bilateral tariffs (i.e. a tariff factor which is 1+ the tariff rate) relative to the MFN tariff rate in each 2digit sector, and whether or not trade is subject to import quotas, outward processing quotas or surveillance restrictions.²⁶ From the analysis it appears that the allocation of quotas has a large and positive impact on trade flows. There are two possible explanations for this. Either quotas are competitive allocated disproportionately to exporters in a generous way so that most of the restrictions are non-binding. Alternatively, nonbinding quotas combined with low or no in-quota tariffs are allocated to countries that would otherwise have difficulties in gaining market shares on the EU markets. Table 12 below indicates the extent to which quotas are binding and exporters' comparative advantage in the textiles and clothing sector. It contains the countries and territories included in Annex II of the European Union's rules for imports of textiles and clothing (Office for Official Publications of the Commission of the European Communities, 2003). The first two columns show revealed comparative advantage for textiles and clothing respectively, while the third column shows the number of binding quotas relative to the total number of quotas. A binding quota is defined as a quota fill rate above 90 per cent.27

²⁶ Using the tariff factor instead of the tariff rates allows us to take logs of the tariff rates without losing the observations with zero tariff rate. Whether or not the exporting country is subject to quota regulation, outward processing agreements or surveillance regulations is captured by three dummy variables. They take the value 0 in the case of no regulation and 1 if one or more item in the 2-digit category is regulated.

²⁷ Revealed comparative advantage is calculated as the share of textiles or clothing in total exports of each country relative to the share of textile or clothing in world exports. If the number is larger than unity, the country in question has a revealed comparative advantage. The quotas are classified according to the EU classification system which can be found on http://sigl.cec.eu.int.

Country	Textiles	Clothing	Binding quotas
Argentina	0.28	0.09	0/3
Armenia	0.25	0.31	0/0
Azerbaijan	0.88	0.00	Surveillance
Bangladesh	8.74	18.63	Surveillance
Belarus	1.46	1.02	2/33
Bosnia Herzegovina	0.76	3.25	1/12
Brazil	0.54	0.12	0/11
Cambodia	8.84	18.06	Surveillance
China	3.18	3.64	33/76
Croatia	1.50	2.80	2/12
Egypt, Arab Rep.	5.44	2.20	0/2
Georgia	0.03	0.09	0/0
Hong Kong, China	4.87	10.09	3/34
India	4.67	3.90	7/21
Indonesia	1.98	2.04	2/15
Kazakhstan	0.02	0.01	Surveillance
Korea, Rep.	2.49	0.70	4/43
Kyrgystan	0.56	0.32	Surveillance
Laos	4.70	11.59	Surveillance
Macao, China	8.02	19.97	11/24
Macedonia, FYR	1.51	7.46	Surveillance
Moldova	1.03	4.59	Surveillance
Mongolia	5.83	5.43	Surveillance
Malaysia	0.36	0.39	3/12
Nepal	10.37	11.66	Surveillance
Pakistan	18.35	6.53	8/16
Peru	2.18	1.09	0/3
Philippines	0.41	1.97	1/16
Russian Federation	0.13	0.07	Surveillance
Singapore	0.32	0.32	0/10
Sri Lanka	4.61	14.36	1/6
Chinese Taipei	2.44	0.48	4/43
Thailand	1.16	1.33	2/20
Turkmenistan	1.65	0.24	Surveillance
Ukraine	0.25	0.87	0/30
United Arab Emirates	0.46	0.55	Surveillance
Uzbekistan	2.89	0.23	0/1
Viet Nam	1.12	3.70	12/29

Table 12: Revealed comparative advantage and binding quotas, 2000.

Of the 38 countries and territories included in Table 12, 13 were subject to surveillance restrictions only. These are largely newcomers to the market, particularly newcomers from the former Soviet Union. We also see that many of these do not have

a comparative advantage in textiles and clothing. China; Viet Nam; Macao, China; Pakistan and India appear to be the countries and territories most restricted by quotas and these have all comparative advantage in textiles and clothing and have experienced rapid export growth during the 1990s. Yet, even for China less than half of the quotas were binding. Among the countries and territories with mainly non-binding quotas are both those with strong comparative advantage in textiles and clothing (Egypt; Hong Kong, China and Sri Lanka) and no comparative advantage (Argentina, Armenia, Brazil, Malaysia, Singapore and Ukraine). It thus seems that the explanation for a positive impact on trade of having a quota can be explained by a mix of the two possibilities - some countries with quotas have strong comparative advantage and are large exporters, and much of their exports enter outside binding quotas. Others have no comparative advantage and may export more to the EU when being allocated a quota combined with low tariffs than they otherwise would. In addition, a third possible explanation of historical inertia emerges. The quota system created incentives for countries that were losing comparative advantage in the textiles and clothing sector to retain their quotas in order to appropriate the quota rents. The strategy for filling the quotas for these countries was to relocate production to lower cost countries with unfilled quotas, but also to continue to export to the EU for longer than they otherwise would.28

For countries under surveillance restrictions, it may well be that successful exporters are more likely to be subject to surveillance restrictions than that surveillance *per se* stimulates exports. The nonformer Soviet Union exporters under surveillance indeed have a high index of revealed comparative advantage. Tariffs have a large and negative impact on trade flows and from the analysis in section II, a large sensitivity to tariffs should be expected.

GDP per capita was also included in the analysis in order to investigate what role the income level, which in turn is closely related to the labour cost level, plays in bilateral trade with the EU. For the sample as a whole, there was no strong relationship between income level and exports to the EU. For some individual sub-sectors, however, income and thus labour costs play an important role. GDP per capita is positively related to exports of wool and perhaps surprisingly, clothing (both 61 and 62). This supports the assumption that timeliness and quality are important determinants of trade in clothing and that the higher end of the fashion market is a significant part of the total market. GDP per capita is negatively related to exports in cotton, other vegetable textile fibres and carpets.

Similar studies have been done for US imports of textile and clothing, using a somewhat different methodology (Evans and Harrigan, 2003; 2004). Evans and Harrigan report that about 40 per cent of US imports of textiles and clothing came in under binding quotas during the 1990s, a figure that was fairly stable during the period. There were, however, important changes in relative market access conditions. Thus, there was a sharp reduction in tariffs, but an increase in binding quotas for Mexico and the Caribbean during the 1990s, while South Asia saw a large increase in the relative share of binding quotas during the 1990s. At the same time there was a substantial shift in sourcing of inputs from Asia to Mexico and the In the market segments with the Caribbean. highest rate of replenishment, imports from nearby Mexico and the Caribbean grew by 70 percentage points faster than those sectors with low replenishment rates over the period 1991 to 1998. Studies by Evans and Harrigan argue that the shift is due to lean retailing practices. They utilize a unique dataset from the US Commerce Department at the 10-digit HS level and incorporate data on most favoured nation applied tariff rates, preferential rates and quotas under the Multi-Fibre Agreement, and find evidence for the relevance of distance in trade in "replenishment goods". They argue that distance matters because of its correlation with time to market, not primarily because of transport costs.

It appears, however, that cost differences still matter. Thus, our analysis of the data since 1998 shows that there has been a reversal in China's market share in textile and clothing which has increased from 13.2 percent in 1999 to 15.5 percent in 2002. There is still some way to go before China has regained its market share of about 18 per cent from 1993, but the declining market share has apparently been halted and possibly reversed.²⁹

²⁸ The simple average quota fill rate for each 2-digit HS category was calculated and included in the regression. It took a positive and significant value, but with a very small coefficient.

²⁹ The market shares are calculated as US imports of textiles and clothing (ISIC codes 17 and 18) from China relative to total US imports of these categories during the period 1990-2002.

The developed countries have "temporarily" protected their textiles and clothing sectors for 40 years and these two sectors have represented anomalies in the GATT ever since the LTA came into force in 1962. Among the most distorting measures to have prevailed are import quotas allocated to some, mainly developing countries on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, while other countries face no quotas. This has led to a pattern of specialization where countries with the strongest comparative advantage for textiles and clothing, such as China and India, face binding quotas, while others receive investment in the sector motivated by unfilled quotas and may well find that these investments are unsustainable in a trade regime based on the principles of the GATT.

Most analyses of the impact of the phasing out of the ATC conclude that China and India will come to dominate world trade in textiles and clothing, with post-ATC market shares for China alone estimated at 50 per cent or more. This study replicates those predictions using a model which is commonly used in such studies (the GTAP model). It is argued, however, that these estimates only tell part of the story, as they are totally driven by changes in relative prices and cost competitiveness. This paper has focused on other factors that are also important and which have generally not been taken into account in the previous literature.

The main contribution of this study is thus to take into account recent developments in the organization of the textiles and clothing sector, where vertical specialization is an important feature. Vertical specialization implies that the inputs embodied in the final product cross borders several times and such trade is very sensitive to the tariff level. Hence the outcome of the phasing out of quotas will depend much more on the prevailing tariff rates and the preference margins of countries receiving such preferences than is captured by the conventional estimates. Second, time to market is important and increasingly so, particularly in the fashion clothing sector. Therefore, countries close to the major markets are likely to be less affected by competition from India and China than has been anticipated in previous studies. Mexico, the Caribbean, Eastern Europe and North Africa are therefore likely to remain important exporters to the US and EU respectively, and possibly maintain their market shares. This is even more likely given the preferential access they have to the markets through regional trade agreements. Thus, it is shown in the paper that having a common border with the importer and facing low or zero tariffs have a substantial impact on bilateral trade.

The countries that are most likely to lose market shares are those located far from the major markets and which have had either tariff and quota-free access to the United States and EU markets, or which have had non-binding quotas. These countries will undoubtedly face adjustment challenges. Also local producers in EU, the United States and Canada are likely to lose market shares. These producers have enjoyed more than 40 years of "temporary" protection, but nevertheless face a long-term structural decline. Thus, adjustments costs due to changing comparative advantage in the textile and clothing sector are not new, and it is not confined to the ATC countries, as the experience of some of the major Asian exporter such as Hong Kong, China; Chinese Taipei and the Republic of Korea shows.

To conclude, there is no doubt that both China and India will gain market shares in the European Union, the United States and Canada to a significant extent, but the expected surge in market share may be less than anticipated, as proximity to major markets assumes increasing economic significance and tariffs are increasingly restraining trade due to the fact that products cross borders several times. Furthermore, other developing countries are catching up with China in terms of unit labour costs in the textile and clothing sector and China has of yet not shown competitive strength in the design and fashion segments of the markets.

VII. REFERENCES

Abernathy, F.H., Dunlop, J.T., Hammond, J.H. and Weil, D, 1999, *Lean Retailing and the Transformation of Manufacturing – Lessons from the Textile and Apparel Industries*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Abreau, M. de Palva, 1995, "Trade in manufacturers: The outcome of the Uruguay Round and developing countries", chapter 3 in Martin, W. and Winters, L.A. (eds): *The Uruguay Round and the Developing Economies*, World Bank

Athukorala, P. and Jayasuriya, S., 2000, "Trade policy reforms and industrial adjustment in Sri Lanka", *The World Economy*, 23, 3: 387-404.

Bair, J. and Gereffi, G., 2001, "Local clusters in global chains: The causes and consequences of export dynamism in Torreon's blue jeans industry", *World Development* 29, 11: 1885-1903.

Commission of the European Communities, 2003, "The future of the textiles and clothing sector in the enlarged European Union", Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. COM (2003) final, 29.10.

Commission of the European Communities, 2004, , SIGL, http://sigl.cec.eu.int/.

Elbehri, A., Hertel, T. and Martin, W., 2003, "Estimating the impact of WTO and domestic reforms on the Indian cotton and textiles sectors: a general equilibrium approach", *Review of Development Economics*, 7, 3: 343-359.

Evans, C.L. and Harrigan, J., 2003, "Distance, time and specialization", NBER Working Paper, 9729, May.

Evans, C.L. and Harrigan, J., 2004, "Tight clothing: How the MFA affects Asian apparel exports", NBER Working Paper, 10250, January.

Francois, J.S., McDonald, B. and Nordström, H., 1997, "The Uruguay Round: a global general equilibrium assessment", chapter 6 in Robertsen, D. (ed), *East Asian trade after the Uruguay Round*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Francois. J.F., Glisman, H.H. and Spinanger, D., 2000, "The cost of EU protection in textiles and clothing", Kiel Institute of World Economics, Working Paper no 997.

Gereffi, G., 2001, "Global sourcing in the US apparel industry", *Journal of Textile and Apparel, Technology and Management*, 2, 1: 1-5.

Hummels, D., J. Ishii and K.M. Yi, 2001, "The nature and growth of vertical specialization in world trade", *Journal of International Economics* vol. 54, no 1. pp. 75-96.

Ianchovichina, E. and Martin, W. 2001, "Implications of China's accession to the WTO for China and the WTO", *World Economy*, 24: 9, 421-45.

Institut Français de la Mode, 2004, "Study on the implications of the 2005 trade liberalization in the textile and clothing sector", study commissioned by the Commission of the European Communities, tender No ENTR/02/04, Consolidated Report.

Kathuria, S., Martin, W. and Bhardwaj, A., 2001, "Implication for South Asian Countries of abolishing the Multifibre Arrangement", mimeo World Bank, November.

Kelegama, S. and Foley, F., 1999, "Impediments to promoting backward linkages from the garment industry in Sri Lanka", *World Development* 27, 8: 1445-1460.

Krishna, K. and Tan, L.H., 1997, "The Multifibre Agreement in practice: challenging the competitive framework", chapter 4 in Robertsen, D. (ed), *East Asian trade after the Uruguay Round*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Loo, B.P.Y., 2002, "The textile and clothing industries under the fifth Kondratieff wave: Some insights from the case of Hong Kong, China", *World Development*, 30, 5: 847-72.

Navaretti, G.B., Falzoni, A., Turrini, A., 2001, "The decision to invest in a low-wage country: Evidence from Italian textiles and clothing multinationals", *Journal of International Trade and Economic Development*, 10, 4: 451-70.

Nordås, H.K., 2003a, "A note on the impact of Trade liberalization on women's job opportunities and earnings in developing countries", *Trade Policy Review*, 2: 2, 221-231.

Nordås, H.K., 2003b, "Vertical specialization and the quality of infrastructure", WTO Working Paper ESRD 2003-04.

Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 2003, "Council Regulation (EEC) no 3030/93 of 12 October 1993 on common rules for imports of certain textile products from third countries" Consleg: 1993R3030 – 29.01.2003.

Reinert, K.A., 2000, "Give us virtue, but not yet: Safeguard actions under the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing", *The World Economy* 23, 1:25-55.

Textile Intelligence, 2003, "Prospects for the textile and apparel industry in Bangladesh", issue 106, July-August.

UNIDO, International Yearbook of Industrial Statistics, various issues, Vienna: UNIDO.

US Customs Service, 2003, http://www.customs.gov/xp/cgov/import/textiles_and_quotas/archived/

WTO, 2001, "Comprehensive report of the textiles monitoring body to the Council of Trade in Goods on the implementation of the Agreement of Textiles and Clothing during the second stage of the integration process", G/L/459, 31. July 2001.

OTHER WTO DISCUSSION PAPERS

- N° 1 "Industrial Tariff Liberalization and the Doha Development Agenda" (February 2003) By Marc Bacchetta and Bijit Bora
- N° 2 "Improving the Availability of Trade Finance during Financial Crises" (November 2003) By Marc Auboin and Moritz Meier-Ewert
- N° 3 "Income Volatility in Small and Developing Economies: Export Concentration Matters" (February 2004) By Marion Jansen
- N° 4 "The Role of Export Taxes in the Field of Primary Commodities" (July 2004) By Roberta Piermartini